PROLACTIN AND OSMOREGULATION IN TELEOST FISHES

by

ABDULLA RAGEB ABDULLA

OIMB LIBRARY

A CRITICAL ESSAY

Presented to the Department of Biology and the Graduate School of the University of Oregon in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

July 1976

Approved:

Dr. Paul P. Rudy, Advisor

Dr. Robert W. Morris

Dr. Bayard H. McConnaughey

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			P.	age
INTRODUCTION				1
EVIDENCE OF PROLACTIN INVOLVEMENT				2
MODE OF ACTION OF PROLACTIN				3
EFFECT ON GILLS		,		3
Effect on Water Permeability				4
Effect on Electrolyte Flux				5
Effect on Chloride Cells				5
Effect on Mucous Cells				
EFFECT ON INTESTINE				7
EFFECT ON KIDNEY				9
EFFECT ON URINARY BLADDER				10
EFFECT ON SKIN				12
CONTROL OF PROLACTIN SECRETION				13
PROLACTIN AND OSMOREGULATION IN OTHER FISHES				16
Cyclostomes	,			16
Elasmobranchs				
Coelacanth				
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS				
BIBLIOGRAPHY				27

INTRODUCTION

Teleosts as a group live in a wide range of aquatic media and maintain their osmotic pressure and electrolyte concentration at levels largely independent of the composition of their environment. In order to maintain hydromineral balance, teleosts are equipped with specialized ion and water-transporting epithelia situated in the gills, skin, kidney, intestine, and urinary bladder. In Euryhaline fishes, the function of these osmoregulatory organs must change according to environmental demands.

Comparative physiologists have studied the endocrine control of osmoregulation in fishes for several decades. One of the findings from a large body of results is the demonstrated effect of prolactin on electrolyte and water metabolism. Interest in prolactin as an osmoregularory hormone in fishes started when Burden (1956) reported the failure of hypophysectomized killifish, Fundulus heteroclitus to survive in freshwater. In further work, Pickford and Phillips (1959) indicated that only prolactin is effective in promoting the freshwater survival of hypophysectomized Killfish. Since these early investigations, mammalian prolactin has been shown to restore

freshwater survival in several other hypophysectomized teleosts: Poecilia latipinna (Ball and Olivereau, 1964), Xiphophorus maculatus (Schreibman and Kallman, 1960), Tilapia mossambica (Dharmamba et.al., 1967).

In this paper, I will attempt to review briefly the current status of the role of prolactin in hydromineral regulation in teleost fishes.

EVIDENCE OF PROLACTIN INVOLVEMENT

Burden (1956) described the inability of the hypophysectomized Fundulus heteroclitus to survive in freshwater. The importance of prolactin in the freshwater survival of numerous other species has been documented (Pickford and Phillips, 1959; Ball and Olivereau, 1964; Schreibman and Kallman, 1966; Dharmamba et.al., 1967; Utida et.al., 1971). Although the plains Killifish, Fundulus kansae and the eel, Anguilla anguilla are able to live in freshwater after hypophysectomy nevertheless they suffer some osmoregulatory impairment, which may be corrected by prolactin (Stanley and Fleming, 1966; Maetz et.al., 1967). Lam and Leatherland (1969) showed that the inability of Stickleback, Gasterosteus aculeatus, to survive in freshwater in winter can be restored by prolactin treatment. In the plains Killifish, Fundulus kansae hypophysectomy decreases urine flow and increases urine sodium concentration; prolactin has the opposite

effect (Potts and Fleming, 1970). Prolactin (eta) cells are stimulated in Cichlasoma biocellatum from freshwater and are inactivated when the fish are in 25% seawater (Mattheij et.al., 1971). Abraham (1971) found three different granule sizes in eta cells of the grey mullet, Mugil cephalus, collected from three different salinities. These observations were confirmed by studying prolactin cells in Teleosts at the light and electron microscopic levels in response to changing environment salinity. Leatherland (1972) reported that mitochondria increase in size and develop more cristae and polyribosomes are apparent in active prolactin cells compared to inactive cells in the goldfish.

MODE OF ACTION OF PROLACTIN

Prolactin has been known to promote survival of hypophysectomized fish in freshwater, by maintaining normal plasma electrolyte level. The basic mechanism of action of prolactin appears to involve different osmoregulatory sites: gills, intestine, kidney, urinary bladder, and the skin. These sites of action will be considered one by one.

EFFECT ON GILLS

Gills of teleosts, occupying more than 60% of the body surface, provide a susceptable osmotic membrane and a main site of water and electrolyte fluxes.

Effect on Water Permeability

Gill movement of tritiated water indicates that almost all water exchange by eel, flounder, and goldfish occur at the gills (Motais et.al., 1969). Chan et.al. (1968) showed that prolactin reduced water influx via the gills of the eel, Anguilla anguilla in freshwater. Prolactin reduces the permeability of the gills to water in the stickleback, Gasterosteus aculeatus (Lam, 1969). Hypophysectomy did not change water influx in the goldfish, Carassius auratus, but prolactin injection of the hypophysectomized fish significantly reduced water influx (Ogawa et.al., 1973). Later Ogawa (1974, 1975) obtained similar results from prolactin with the isolated gills of the rainbow trout, Salmo gairdneri and the Japanese eel, Anguilla japonica. However, Lahlou and Giordan (1970) reported that hypophysectomy causes a reduction of water permeability in gills of the goldfish, and prolactin is able to correct this defect. The same effect of prolactin in Fundulus kansae has been suggested by Potts and Fleming (1970).

On the other hand, stress, ACTH, or Cortisol increased water permeability of the gills of goldfish (Lahlou and Giordan, 1970). The same effect of Cortisol in isolated gills of the Japanese eel has been reported by Ogawa (1975).

Effect on Electrolyte Flux

Potts and Evans (1966) first demonstrated that prolactin reduces sodium loss in hypophysectomized Killifish, Fundulus heteroclitus, in freshwater. Later, Lam (1969) reported that prolactin reduces the net loss of sodium via the head region in the stickleback. Prolactin treatment of hypophysectomized Tilapia mossabica in freshwater reduced the sodium outflux, although it did not affect sodium influx (Dharmamba and Maetz, 1972). Sodium turnover rate and branchial efflux are inhibited by prolacting in Tilapia mossambica in seawater (Dharmamba et.al., 1973). Prolactin induced a marked increase of plasma sodium in intact or hypophysectomized eel, Anguilla anguilla, transferred to seawater (Olivereau and Lemoine, 1973). MacFarlane and Maetz (1974) reported that the impaired sodium conservation in hypophysectomized euryhaline flounder, Platichthys flesus, in freshwater is due solely to a high branchial efflux; the sodium absorption pump and water permeability are unaffected. Prolactin treatment considerably reduced the sodium turnover rate, but it does not affect water permeability.

Effect on Chloride Cells

A considerable volume of work has been done on the role of the chloride cells (lonocytes) in electrolyte

transport. Mizuhira et.al. (1970) showed that the Na, K -ATPase activity is mainly localized in the chloride cells in the gill epithelium of the Japanese eel, Evidences indicate that the inonocytes are the probable site of active electrolyte transport in seawater (Maetz, 1971). Utida et.al. (1971) demonstrated that the chloride cells are always larger both in number and size and stronger in stainability to acid fuchsin in marine teleosts than in freshwater teleosts. Pickford et.al., 1970-b) reported that prolactin reduced the gill Na, K -ATPase activity of hypophysectomized Fundulus heteroclitus on transfer from seawater to freshwater. Kamiya (1972) found that when seawater-adapted eels were returned to freshwater, the enzyme activity decreased gradually. Prolactin injection into hypophysectomized eels promoted this decrease, although it was without effect on seawater eels.

On the other hand, Cortisol induces a rise in the activity of Na, K -ATPase in the gills of <u>Fundulus heteroclitus</u> and <u>Anguilla anguilla</u> adapted to seawater (Pickford et.al., 1970-a; Milne et.al., 1971). Cortisol also induces an increase in the enzyme activity in the gills of intact <u>Anguilla rostrata</u> and <u>Anguilla japonica</u> maintained in freshwater (Epstein et.al., 1971; Kamiya, 1972).

Effect on Mucous Cells

A second branchial epithelial site at which prolactin may act is the mucous cells.

Burden (1956) noted the atrophy of the mucous cells in the gills of hypophysectomized killifish, <u>Fundulus</u> <u>heteroclitus</u>. Blum and Fiedler (1965) found that prolactin increased the number of mucous cells in cichlid fishes. Prolactin stimulates the branchial mucous cells in intact <u>Gasterosteus aculeatus</u> and <u>Anoplichthys jordani</u> (Leatherland and Lam, 1969; Mattheij and Sprangers, 1969).

EFFECT ON INTESTINE

It is generally accepted that teleosts in freshwater scarcely drink water; whereas in seawater, they drink continually and absorb water together with monovalent ions from the intestine in order to replace water which is lost osmotically. It was shown by Oide and Utida (1967) that in isolated intestines of eels, a larger amount of water passes through the intestine of seawater-adapted eels than freshwater eels. Further, Hirano et.al. (1967) reported that when the hypophysis is removed, the enhancement in water movement of the seawater-adapted eel is no longer observed. A single injection of ACTH or Cortisol into freshwater eels produced a significant augmentation of the intestinal water movement (Hirano and Utida, 1968).

Adrenalectomy produced a significant drop in water movement which was restored to normal values by Cortisol injection (Gaitskell and Chester Jones, 1970). Hirano and Utida (1971) observed that only a short term (2-4 hr.) increase in circulating Cortisol during the course of seawater adaptation, while the increase in intestinal water movement was observed after a latent period of about 10 hours and lasts for more than a week. This latent period may reflect some metabolic process. Jampol and Epstein (1970) reported that intestinal Na, K -ATPase activity is higher in seawater-adapted fish than in freshwater fish. Na, K -ATPase activity increased in intestines of Cortisol-injected killifish in seawater (Pickford et.al., 1970-b). Prolactin does not affect intestinal ATPase activity in hypophysectomized freshwater killifish (Pickford et.al., 1970-a). Oide (1970), on the other hand, noticed that the adaptation of the eel to seawater enhances the production of alkaline phosphatase in the intestinal mucosa.

Utida et.al. (1969) demonstrated that prolactin treatment of seawater eels decreases the rate of water absorption in the intestine. When seawater is introduced into the gut of a freshwater eel, sodium is absorbed but water is not; both are absorbed following Cortisol injection (Utida et.al., 1972).

EFFECT ON KIDNEY

The teleost kidney plays a major role in hydromineral balance. In freshwater fishes, the remal tubules are nearly impermeable to water (Hickman, 1965). In euryhaline fishes, glomerular filtration rate is increased in hypotonic and decreased in hypertonic environments (Lahlou, 1967). Oide and Utida (1968) reported that glomerular filtration rate and urine flow are higher in freshwater Japanese eels than in seawater fish. The action of prolactin on renal mechanisms has not been as well studied as the extrarenal mechanisms, which is mainly because of the technical difficulties involved (Lam, 1972).

In plains killiffs (Stanley and Fleming, 1966, 1967), stickleback (Lam, 1969-c), and goldfish (Lahlou and Sawyer, 1969; Lahlou and Giordan, 1970) hypophysectomy reduces urine flow and increases sodium excretion. Prolactin treatment reverses both effects. Prolactin injections caused structural changes in the kidney. Lam and Leatherland (1969-b) demonstrated that after transfer to freshwater, the prolactin-injected stickleback showed a significant percentage increase in size of the glomerular tuft. Olivereau and Lemoine (1968, 1969) found in the hypophysectomized eel, prolactin has morphological stimulatory effect on the renal tubules, although its effect is not as marked as in intact fish.

Wendelaar and Veenhuis (1974) reported that stickleback kidney cells are stimulated by prolactin. The stimulatory effects of prolactin on kidneys are supported by the work done on kidney ATPase enzyme. Epstein et.al. (1969) reported that the activity of kidney Na, K -ATPase in killifish increased significantly following transfer from seawater to freshwater. Prolactin strongly increases ATPase in the kidney of hypophysectomized killifish (Pickford et.al., 1970). In a survey of a number of freshwater and marine teleosts, Jampol and Epstein (1970) found that kidney Na, K -ATPase activity in freshwater fishes was about twice that of marine fishes. McCartney (1976) reported that Na, K -ATPase activity declined in the kidney during the transition of the Atlantic Salmon, Salmo salar, from a freshwater to a seawater environment.

Cortisol may play a role in kidney function. Chan et. al. (1969) found that interrenalectomy of freshwater eel reduces glomerular filtration rate which can be restored to normal with Cortisol.

EFFECT ON URINARY BLADDER

The osmoregulatory role of the urinary bladder in teleosts has been neglected. However, recent investigations have suggested that urinary bladder provides another important surface for ion and water transport. Lahlou (1967) reported that the bladder urine of flounder,

Platichthys flesus, differs significantly from the free flow urine. Johnson et.al. (1970) found that bladders isolated from concentrated (133%) seawater adapted flounder, Platichthys stellatus, have a higher rate of water movement than those from freshwater adapted fish. Prolactin injected into concentrated seawater adapted starry flounder decreases the rate of water movement in the urinary bladder to the level seen with bladders from freshwater fish (Hirano et.al., 1971). Only prolactin treatment and transfer to hypotonic media decrease water absorption and increase sodium influx in the bladder of seawater starry flounder (Johnson et.al., 1972). In general, euryhaline fishes modify their bladders from a permeable state in seawater to a relatively impermeable state in freshwater. Prolactin seems to be involved in this modification (Hirano et.al., 1973). In bladders of the seawater flounders, Platichthys stellatus, Kareius bicoloratus, and Platichthys flesus prolactin decreases water permeability and stimulates sodium and chloride reabsorption (Hirano, 1974, 1975; Johnson et.al., 1974; Foster, 1975). Prolactin treatment or transfer from seawater to freshwater increases Na, K -ATPase activity in Platichthys stellatus bladder, but not Na, K -ATPase activity in Kareius bicoloratus, which does not survive transfer to freshwater (Utida et.al., 1974). Doneen and Nagahama (1973) suggested that Cortisol may act on the

euryhaline Gillichthys mirabilis to stimulate bladder ion movement, whereas the action of prolactin may be confined to controlling water permeability upon transfer to freshwater. Organ-cultured bladders from Gillichthys indicated that Cortisol increases bladder water permeability and that prolactin antagonizes this Cortisol effect, causing a reduction in water permeability (Doneen and Bern, 1974). Doneen (1974) reported that Cortisol stimulation of water permeability in cultured bladders is inhibited by prolactin in a dose-response relationship. Recently, Doneen (1976) confirmed the bihormonal regulation of water and ion movement in Gillichthys urinary bladder. Cortisol can elevate water permeability and stimulate sodium and chloride reabsorption in seawateradapted fish, whereas prolactin lowers bladder water permeability.

EFFECT ON SKIN

The skin is another epithelial site at which prolactin may act. Schreibman and Kallman (1965) reported that hypophysectomy reduces the activity and number of mucous cells in the skin of <u>Betta splendens</u>, and prolactin (Blum and Fiedler, 1965) increases the number of these cells in the skin of the cichlid fish, <u>Symphysodm aequifasciata</u>. In hypophysectomized goldfish, <u>Carassius auratus</u>, prolactin injections caused an increase in both number and size of

the epidermal mucous cells (Ogawa, 1970). In the cichlid, Cichlasoma biocellatum, the number of skin mucous cells could be correlated with the activity of the prolactin producing cells in adenohypophysis (Mattheij and Stroband, 1971). In the eel, Anguilla anguilla, the Sialic acid, a component of mucous, concentration is significantly reduced after hypophysectomy and is restored by prolactin injections (Olivereau and Lemoine, 1971). On the other hand, neither hypophysectomy nor prolactin affect mucous cells in Poecilia latipinna (Ball, 1969-b) and Anoptichthys jordani (Mattheij and Sprangers, 1969).

CONTROL OF PROLACTIN SECRETION

The mechanisms controlling prolactin secretion in teleosts has been the subject of many investigations in recent years (Ball et.al., 1972; Leatherland and Ensor, 1973, 1974; Nagahana et.al., 1974, 1975; Peter and McKoewn, 1974; Zambrano et.al., 1974).

Hypothalmic regulation of prolactin cells in teleost fishes has received particular attention. Peter (1970) found that in the goldfish, <u>Carassius auratus</u>, neurosecretory fibers passing from the hypothalmus to the adenohypophysis. Following pituitary transplantation in <u>Gasterosteus aculeatus</u> (Leatherland, 1970), <u>Anguilla anguilla</u> (Olivereau, 1971-a), and <u>Ictalurus melas</u> (Chidamberam et.al., 1972), the prolactin cells appear

more active than in the normal pituitaries. Chambolle (1973) reported that hypophysectomized Gambusia with an autotransplanted rostral pars distalis survive in freshwater is suggestive of prolactin secretion by prolactin cells independent of hypothalmic influence. Leatherland and Ensor (1973) found no differences in the appearance of prolactin cells between goldfish with autotransplanted pituitaries and sham-operated control fish. Leatherland and Ensor (1974) also provided evidences for a prolactin release-inhibiting factor in the goldfish hypothalmus, judging from the decrease in plasma sodium after treatment with a hypothalamic extract. Peter and McKeown (1974) demonstrated that hypothalamic lesions caused a marked increase in prolactin secretion in the goldfish which suggests that the nucleus lateralis para lateralis is the origin of a factor that normally inhibits prolactin release from the pituitary. Recently, Nagahama et.al. (1975) reported that the grafted prolactin cells of seawater Gillichthys mirabilis exhibited obvious activations with a significant elevation of plasma sodium concentration, strongly indicative of the presence of prolactin inhibitory factor from the hypothalmus.

Another mechanism which may control prolactin secretion in some teleosts is the changes in osmotic pressure of the surrounding medium (Nagahama et.al., 1975). Hirano et.al. (1971) and Ingleton et.al. (1973) found that in

Poecilia latipinna prolactin secretion is stimulated by reduced electrolyte concentrations. Schreibman et.al. (1973) studied the morphology of the teleost pituitary and have demonstrated that prolactin cells are more active in freshwater than in seawater. Bell and Ingleton (1973) reported a 75% decrease in prolactin content of Poecilia pituitaries after transfer from seawater to freshwater. Nagahama et.al. (1975) also reported that the pituitary prolactin content in Gillichthys dropped to 40% after transfer to freshwater. Zambrano et.al. (1974) showed that Tilapia prolactin cells respond strongly to a seawater-freshwater transfer after their aminergic inervation has been disrupted. In another study on Tilapia pituitaries, Zambrano et.al. (1974) indicated that dilution of the medium directly stimulated both synthesis and secretion of prolactin as judged by the proliferation of rough endoplasmic reticulum and greater incorporation of tritiated leucine, and reduction in prolactin content and an increase in the amount of bioassayable prolactin in the medium. Transfer of Gillichthys mirabilis bearing pituitary autografts from seawater to freshwater caused exocytosis of granules from the prolactin cells (Nagahama et.al., 1974). More recently, Nagahama et.al. (1975) demonstrated that in Gillichthys, prolactin release is directly stimulated by low osmotic pressure of the incubation medium.

PROLACTIN AND OSMOREGULATION IN OTHER FISHES

Cyclostomes (Myxinidae), Elasmobranchs, and <u>Latimeria</u> should have no major problems of hydromineral balance, because their osmotic concentrations are either the same as or slightly above seawater.

Cyclostomes

Cyclostomes are divided into two groups: Hagfishes and Lampreys. The hagfishes (Myxinidae) are strictly marine . Their body fluids with a salt concentration similar to that of seawater. In fact, their plasma sodium concentration slightly exceeds sodium concentration of the sea (Schmidt-Nielsen, 1975). Chester Jones (1962) demonstrated that injections of mammalian prolactin increased muscle water content, and decreased muscle electrolytes in the hagfish, Myxine. Aler et.al. (1971) have used fluorescent antibody techniques and found that rabbit antibodies to ovine prolactin do not cross-react with any protein in the adenohypophysis of the hagfish, Myxine glutinosa. Through assaying of prolactin in different vertebrate pituitaries by its dispersion of xanthophores in the goild, Gillichthys mirabilis, Sage and Bern (1972) found a very small activity in the pacific hagfish, Polistotrema stouti, pituitary. This low or absent activity in the hagfish pituitary may be due to either the absence of the prolactin

hormone or to differences in the molecule such that it does not function on a teleost receptor.

Lampreys (Petromyzontidae) are euryhaline. Having an osmotic concentration of about one-third of seawater, they behave osmotically like teleost fishes (Schmidt-Nielson, 1975). Aler et.al. (1971) have found no prolactin activity in the lamprey, <u>Lamptra fluviatilis</u>, pituitary. No further studies along this line have been reported.

Elasmobranchs

Sharks, skates, and rays are almost with exception marine. The total osmotic concentration of their blood equals or slightly exceeds that of seawater, because of the addition of urea and trimethylamineoxide to the salt concentration of their body fluids. Although elasmobranchs are isosmotic, they still suffer some ionic impairments due to sodium diffusion from sea into them. This extra sodium is excreted by the kidney and rectal gland (Schmidt-Neilsen, 1975). The elasmobranch pituitary contains a teleost-type prolactin (de Vlaming et.al., 1975; Grant, 1961; Sage and Bern, 1972). Relatively little is known about the involvement of that prolactin in osmoregulation. Payan and Maetz (1971) found that hypophysectomy in three elasmobranchs, Scyliorhinus canicula, Raja montagu, and Torpedo marmorata, decreased both branchial water permeability and urine flow. The branchial water permeability

was restored to normal by both ACTH and prolactin treatments. Only ACTH is able to restore normal kidney function. Payan et.al. (1973) found no change in branchial water permeability in both intact and hypophysectomized euryhaline stakes, Raja erinacea and R. radiata, adapted either to seawater or to 50% seawater. de Vlaming et.al. (1975) reported that in the euryhaline stingray, Dasyatis sabina, hypophysectomy caused a significant increase in plasma osmolarity, urea, and sodium concentrations which were reversed by mammalian prolactin injections. From these findings, one can suggest that prolactin may increase water influx Su Schmidt-Nieden (1975) by acting on the gills.

Coelacanth

The coelacanth Latimeria is essentially isosmotic with seawater. No information is available about prolactin effect on salt and water metabolism in Latimeria, because no living specimen has been kept long enough to perform physiological experiments.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Fishes live in a wide range of salinities. Some are stenohaline, limited to one environment, others are euryhaline and can tolerate or migrate from one salinity to another. Marine and freshwater teleosts maintain their osmotic concentration within the same range, although

marine fishes tend to have somewhat higher blood concentrations (Schmidt-Nielson, 1975).

Marine bony fishes are hyposmotic, and their osmotic problem is to conserve water and exclude salt. In order to maintain their body volume in the hypertonic sea, marine teleosts drink large quantities of seawater. As the seawater passes down the intestine, water is absorbed, as well as some salts. Sodium absorbed in the intestine and that entering the body by inward diffusion across the gills must be eliminated via the gills by active transport. The excretion of sodium in the urine is of minor importance because the urine is usually in a small quantity and more dilute than the body fluids. However, some divalent ions are lost in the urine and the gut (Schmidt-Nielson, 1975).

Freshwater teleosts are osmotically more concentrated than the medium, therefore their major problem is the osmotic water influx, mainly through the gills, and loss of solutes through the gills and in the urine (Schmidt-Nielson, 1975). In order to maintain their plasma concentration, freshwater teleosts drink little water, if any, and filter large quantities of water through the kidneys. As the filtrate passes down the kidney tubules, most of the solutes are absorbed, leaving a dilute urine which is temporarily held in the urinary bladder for more salt reabsorption. In freshwater teleosts, serum sodium is also

maintained by reducing outflux of sodium through the gills.

Considerable evidence seems to point to prolactin as the major factor in regulating hydromineral balance in teleosts in freshwater. Gills, intestine, kidney, urinary bladder, and the intergument are the potential sites of prolactin action.

Most of the action of prolactin on salt and water metabolism seems to be at the branchial level. Water permeability of a number of teleosts is greater in freshwater than in seawater (Potts et.al., 1967); and nearly all water turnover is at the gill. Chan (1968), Lam (1969), and Ogawa et.al. (1973) concluded that prolactin may reduce the permeability of the gills to water in freshwater teleosts. The results obtained with both the Japanese eel and rainbow trout by Ogawa (1974, 1975) confirmed the above effect of prolactin. However, work on the goldfish and plains killifish (Lahlou and Giordan, 1970; Potts and Fleming, 1970) gave contradictory results in that prolactin appeared to increase water permeability of the gills. These directly opposite effects of prolactin on branchial permeability are hard to explain. They may be related to species differences and technical difficulties.

Lahlou and Giordan (1970) and Ogawa (1975) suggested that Cortisol may also regulate gill function acting antagonistically to prolactin; Cortisol increases water influx of the gills. The information concerning the effect

of Cortisol on branchial water permeability is scanty, and further experiments are necessary to clarify this suggestion.

The ability to reduce sodium permeability is essential to a freshwater habitat. In general, gill efflux in freshwater is less than 1% of the seawater rate (Bentley, 1971). It has been suggested that in freshwater teleosts, prolactin appears to act by reducing branchial sodium permeability (Dharmamba and Maetz, 1972; MacFarlane and Maetz, 1974). In seawater fishes, prolactin inhibits sodium extrusion pump (Dharmamba et.al., 1973; Olivereau and Lemoine, 1973). In hypophysectomized killifish in freshwater, prolactin reduced the branchial Na, K -ATPase activity, an effect correlated with the decrease in branchial sodium efflux (Pickford et.al., 1970). These results suggest that prolactin alters the activity of the sodium extrusion pump normally operating in seawater rather than influencing passive sodium exchange. The elevated levels of Na, K -ATPase in the gills of seawater teleosts seem to be triggered by Cortisol (Milne et.al., 1971; Pickford et.al., 1971). Thus the coordination of prolactin and Cortisol activity in euryhaline fishes results in the reduction of sodium efflux by prolactin in freshwater, and enhancement of sodium outflux by Cortisol in seawater.

Osmotically the gut is more important in seawater fishes than in freshwater fishes, simply because of the

negligible drinking rate of the latter. It is known that water absorption is linked to active transport of sodium and chloride ions (Hirano, 1974). It has been reported that only ACTH and Cortisol are effective in increasing the rate of sodium and water transport in the gut of freshwater eel (Hirano and Utida, 1968; Utida et.al., 1972). The latent period of Cortisol effect may reflect the metabolic process of increasing Na, K -ATPase activity. An increase in intestinal Na, K -ATPase activity has been reported in seawater-adapted and Cortisol-injected fishes, suggesting that sodium transport and Na, K -ATPase enzyme are directly related (Jampol and Epstein, 1970: Pickford, et.al., 1970-b). Gut levels of Na, K - ATPase in hypophysectomized freshwater killifish are unaffected by prolactin, suggesting that prolactin does not affect sodium transport in intestine (Pickford et.al., 1970-a). However, the important enzyme here may not be Na, K -ATPase, but alkaline phosphatase (Oide, 1970). On the other hand, prolactin treatment inhibits water permeability of the eel intestine (Utida et.al., 1969). From the accumulating evidence, it seems that intestine is under bihormonal control (Cortisol and prolactin); Cortisol increases both the rate of water and sodium transport, whereas prolactin acts to limit the amount of water accompanying the ions. Thus, prolactin acts on the intestinal epithelium as an antagonist to Cortisol. Cortisol is essential in seawater,

and prolactin plays an important role in freshwater.

The kidney of euryhaline teleosts must shift from water excretion and nonvalent ion conservation in freshwater to divalent ion excretion and water conservation in seawater. It has been demonstrated that in hypophysectomized freshwater fishes, prolactin increases urine flow to normal levels, and reduces urinary sodium concentration (Lahlou and Sawyer, 1969; Lahlou and Giordan, 1970; Lam, 1969; Stanley and Fleming, 1966, 1967). The increased urine flow is due to prolactin stimulation of glomerular filtration rate and inhibition of tubular water absorption (Lam and Leatherland, 1969). Wendelaar and Veenhuis (1974) reported that kidney cells are better developed in freshwater than in seawater fishes. It has been also reported that prolactin stimulates kidney cells in the hypophysectomized eel (Olivereau and Lemoine, 1969). The findings that transfer of fish from seawater to freshwater or prolactin treatment increase the activity of kidney Na, K -ATPase, reflect the stimulatory effect of prolactin on the kidney to reabsorb sodium from the large volume of glomerular filtrate (Epstein et.al., 1969; Jampol and Epstein, 1970; McCartney, 1976; Pickford et.al., 1970). The fact that the same renal prolactin effects on hypophysectomized eel were produced in intact fish to a greater degree suggests some synergism between other pituitary factors and the injected prolacting (Olivereau and Lemoine, 1969).

The possibility of an osmoregulatory role for the urinary bladder has been suggested as a result of its modification of the ionic composition of the urine (Johnson et.al., 1970; Lahlou, 1967). By inhibiting osmotic permeability and stimulating sodium reabsorption in freshwater, the urinary bladder of euryhaline fish may supplement and functionally mimic the osmoregulatory function of the distal kidney tubule (Foster, 1975). Two concepts have been suggested regarding the hormonal regulation of water and ion movements in the urinary bladder. The first is unihormonal: prolactin stimulates both sodium uptake and Na, K -ATPase activity while inhibiting water movement across the urinary bladder (Foster, 1975; Hirano, 1974, 1975; Johnson et.al., 1972, 1974). Whereas the second concept is bihormonal: Cortisol increases sodium reabsorption and osmotic permeability, while prolactin limits water movement across the urinary bladder favoring freshwater adaption (Doneen, 1974, 1976; Doneen and Bern, 1974; Doneen and Nagahama, 1973). The differences between those two concepts appear to spring from the differences among teleost species. However, insufficient investigation has been done to allow conclusions regarding taxonomic positions and bladder osmoregulatory properties (Bern, 1975). Any generalizations must await further investigations of more euryhaline teleosts.

An examination of the data presented above leads to the general conclusion that prolacting is the dominant factor in regulating teleost hydromineral balance in freshwater. It maintains ionic balance by inhibiting sodium loss in the gills, and stimulating active transport in the kidney and urinary bladder. Prolactin also maintains water balance through inhibition of osmotic water influx via the gills and limiting water absorption from the gut together with its action of increasing urine flow via an increase in glomerular filtration rate and a reduction in water reabsorption from the urinary bladder. The effect of prolactin and other hormones are not well understood in the problem of adaptation of fish to seawater and freshwater. The role of prolactin in regulating hydromineral balance in marine teleosts awaits further investigation.

The presence of prolactin release-inhibiting factor (PIF) in mammals is well documented (Turner and Bagnara, 1971). From the cumulative evidence, it seems certain that prolactin release in teleosts is regulated by at least two mechanisms: an inhibitory factor from the hypothalmus presumably mediated by aminergic fibers, and a direct stimulation due to low osmotic pressure of the surrounding medium. Moreover, Nagahama et.al. (1974, 1975) indicated that negative feedback by either prolactin itself or elevated plasma sodium level may be another

possible mechanism controlling prolactin secretion in teleosts.

If prolactin exists in cyclostomes, it has antigenic properties differing from those of mammalian and teleostean prolactin. The whole question of the existence of prolactin in cyclostomes is complicated and needs more investigation.

What little is known about the role of prolactin in elasmobranch osmoregulation does not allow any conclusion. However, further research is needed in this field.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abraham, M. (1971). The ultrastructure of the cell types and neurosecretory innervation in the pituitary of Hugil cephalus from fresh water, the sea, and a hypersaline lagoon. 1. the rostral pars distalis. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 17, 334-350.
- Aler, G.M., G. Bage, and B. Rernholm (1971). On the existence of prolactin in cyclostomes. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 10, 70-74.
- Ball, J.N. (1969). Prolactin and osmoregulation in teleost fishes: a review, Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. suppl. 2, 10-25.
- Ball, J.N. and P.M. Ingleton (1973). Adaptive variations in prolactin secretion in relation to external salinity in the teleost <u>Poecilia latipinna</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 20, 312-325.
- Ball, J.N. and M. Olivereau (1964) Role de la prolactine dans la survie en eau douce de <u>Poecilia latipinna</u> et arguments en faveur de sa synthese par les cellules erythrosinophiles eta de l'hypophyse des Teleosteens. Comp. Rend. Acad. Scie. 259, 1334-1446.
- Ball, J.N. B.I. Baker, M. Olivereau and R.E. Peter (1972) Investigations on hypothalamic control of adenohypophyseal function in teleost fishes. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. Suppl. 3, 11-21.
- Bentley, P.J. (1971). Endocrines and Osmoregulation. Springer-Verlag.
- Bern, A.B. (1975). Prolactin and osmoregulation. Amer. Zoo. 15, 947-948.
- Blum, V. and K. Fiedler (1965). Hormonal control of reproductive behaviour in some cichlid fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 5, 186-196.
- Burden, C.E. (1956). The failure of hypophysectomized Fundulus heteroclitus to survive in fresh water. Biol. Bull. 110, 8-28.
- Chambolle, P. (1973). Recherches sur la facteurs physiologiques de la reproduction chez les poison "ovovivipares" analyse experimentale sur Gambusia. sp. Bull. Biol. 107, 27-101.

- Chan, D.K.O., I. Chester Jones, and W. Mosley (1968).

 Pituitary and adrenocortical factors in the control of the water and electrolyte composition of the fresh water European eel (Anguilla anguilla). J. Endocrinol. 24, 91-98.
- Chan, D.K.O., J.C. Rankin, and I. Chester Jones (1969). Influences of the adrenal cortex and the corpusles of stannius on osmoregulation in the European eel (Anguilla anguilla) adapted to fresh water. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. Suppl. 2, 342-353.
- Chester Jones, I., Phillips, J.G., and Bellam, D. (1962). Studies on water and electrolyte in cyclostomes and teleosts with special reference to Myxine glutinosa and Anguilla anguilla. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. suppl. 1, 36-47.
- Chidambaram, S., R.K. Meyer and A.D. Hasler (1972).

 Effect of hypophysectomy, pituitary autografts, prolactin, temperature and salinity of the medium of survival and natremia in the bullhead, Ictalurus melas. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 43A, 443-457.
- deVlaming, V.L., M. Sage, and B. Beitz (1975) Aspects of endocrine control of osmoregulation in the euryhaline elasmobranch, <u>Dasyatis sabina</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 52A, 505-514.
- Dharmamba, M. (1970) Studies of the effect of hypophysectomy and prolactin on plasma osmolarity and plasma sodium in <u>Tilapia mossambica</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 14, 256-269.
- Dharmamba, M. and J. Maetz (1972). Effect of hypophysectomy on the sodium balance of <u>Tilapia mossambica</u> in fresh water. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 19, 175-183.
- Dharmamba, M., R.I. Handin, J. Nandi and H.A. Hern (1967). Effect of prolactin on freshwater survival and on plasma osmotic pressure of hypophysectomized <u>Tilapia mossambica</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 9, 295-302.
- Dharmamba, M., N. Mayer-Gostan, J. Maetz and H.A. Bern (1973). Effect of prolactin sodium movement in Tilapia mossambica adapted to seawater. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 21, 179-187.
- Doneen, B.A. (1974). Bioassay of prolactin and structurally related hormones in organ-culture teleost urinary bladder. Amer. Zoo. 14, 1245 (Abstr.)

- Doneen, B.A. (1976). Water and ion movement in the urinary bladder of the Gobiid teleost, Gillichthys mirabilis in response to prolactin and cortisol. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 28, 33-41.
- Doneen, B.A. and H.A. Bern (1974). In vitro effects of prolactin and Cortisol on water permeability of the urinary bladder of the teleost, <u>Gillichthys</u> mirabilis. J. Exp. Zool. 187, 173-179.
- Doneen, B.A. and Y. Nagahama (1973). Role of prolactin and Cortisol in osmoregulatory function of the urinary bladder of the euryhaline teleost, Gillichthys mirabilis. Amer. Zool. 13, 1278 (Abstr.)
- Epstein, F.H., M. Cyamon, and W. McKay (1971). Endocrine control of Na, K -ATPase and seawater adaptation in Anguilla rostrata. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 16, 323-328.
- Epstein, F.H., A. Manitius, E. Weinstein, A.J. Katz, and G.E. Pickford (1969) Na, K -ATPase in kidneys of Fundulus heteroclitus adapted to fresh and salt water. Yale J. Biol. Med. 41, 388.
- Foster, R.C. (1975). Changes in urinary bladder and kidney function in the starry flounder (<u>Platichthys stellatus</u>) in response to prolactin and to freshwater transfer. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 27, 153-161.
- Gaitskell, R.E. and I. Chester Jones (1970) Effect of adrenalectomy and Cortisol injection on the in vitro movement of water by the intestine of the freshwater European eel (Anguilla anguilla). Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 15, 491-493.
- Hickman, C.P. (1965) Studies on renal function in freshwater teleost fish. Trans. Roy. Soc. Can., 4th ser., 3, 213-236.
- Hirano, T. (1974). Effect of prolactin on water and electrolyte movements in the isolated urinary bladder of the flounder, <u>Kareius bicoloratus</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 22, 382 (Abstr.)
- Hirano, T. (1975). Effect of prolactin on osmotic and diffusion permeability of the urinary bladder of the flounder, <u>Platichthys</u> flesus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol, 27, 88-94.

- Hirano, T., D.W. Johnson, and H.A. Bern (1971) Control of water movement in flounder urinary bladder by prolactin. Nature (London) 230, 469-471.
- Hirano, T., D.W. Johnson, H.A. Bern, and S. Utida (1973). Studies on water and ion movements in the isolated bladder of selected freshwater, marine and euryhaline teleosts. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 45A, 529-540.
- Hirano, T., M. Kamiya, S. Saishu and S. Utida (1967). Effects of hypophysectomy and urophysectomy on water and sodium transport in isolated intestine and gills of Japanese eel (Anguilla japonica). Endocrinol. Japan 14, 182-186.
- Hirano, T. and S. Utida (1971) Plasma cortisol concentration and the rate of intestinal water absorption in the eel, Anguilla japonica. Endocrinol. Japan 18, 47-52.
- Ingleton, P.M., Baker, B.I., Ball, J.N. (1973). Secretion of prolactin and growth hormone by teleost pituitaries in vitro. 1. Effect of sodium concentration and osmotic pressure during short-term incubations. J. Comp. Physiol. 87, 317-328.
- Jampol, L.M. and F.H. Epstein (1970). Na, K -ATPase and osmotic regulation by fishes. Amer. J. Physiol. 218, 607-611.
- Johnson, D.W. (1973). Endocrine control of hydromineral balance in teleosts. Amer. Zool. 13, 799-818.
- Johnson, D.W., T. Hirano, and H.A. Bern (1970). Water and sodium movements in flounder (Platichthys stellatus) urinary bladder and their hormonal control. Amer. Zool. 10, 497.
- Johnson, D.W., T. Hirano, H.A. Bern, and F.P. Conte (1972). Hormonal control of water and sodium movements in the urinary bladder of the starry flounder (Platichthys stellatus) Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 19, 115-128.
- Johnson, D.W., T. Hirano, M. Sage, R.C. Foster, and H.A. Bern (1974). Time course of response of starry flounder (Platichthys stellatus) urinary bladder to prolactin and to salinity transfer. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 24, 373-380.

- Kamiya, M. (1972). Hormonal effect on Na, K -ATPase activity in the gills of Japanese eel, Anguilla japonica, with special reference to seawater adaptation. Endocrinol. Japan. 19, 489-493.
- Lahlou, B. (1967). Excretion renale chez un poisson euryhalin, le flet (Platichthys flesus) Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 20, 925-938.
- Lahlou, B. and A. Giordan (1970). Le controle hormonal des changes et de la balance de l'eau chez le teleosteen d'eau douce <u>Carassius auratus</u>, intact et hypophysectomise. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 14, 491-509.
- Lahlou, B. and W.H. Sawyer (1969). Electrolyte balance in hypophysectomized goldfish, <u>Carassius</u> <u>auratus</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 12, 370-377.
- Lam, T.J. (1969). The effect of prolactin on osmotic influx in isolated gills of marine three-spine stickleback, <u>Gasterosteus aculeatus</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 31, 909-913.
- Lam, T.J. (1972). Prolactin and hydromineral regulation in fishes. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. Suppl. 3, 328-338.
 - Lam, T.J. and J.F. Leatherland (1969). Effect of prolactin on freshwater survival of the marine form (trachurus) of the three-spine stickleback, <u>Gasterosteus aculeatus</u>, in the early winter. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 12, 385-394.
 - Leatherland, J.F. (1970). Histological investigation of pituitary homotransplants in the marine form (trachurus) of the three-spine stickleback, <u>Gasterosteus</u> aculeatus. Z. Zellforsch. Mikrosk Anat. 104, 337-344.
 - Leatherland, J.F. (1972). Histophysiology and innervation of the pituitary gland of the goldfish, <u>Carassius</u> auratus: a light and electron microscope investigation. Can. J. Zool. 50, 835-844.
 - Leatherland, J.F. and D.M. Ensor (1973). Activity of autotransplanted pituitary glands in goldfish, <u>Carassius</u> <u>auratus</u> maintained in different ambient salinities. <u>Can. J.</u> Zool. 51, 225-235.

- Leatherland, J.R. and D.M. Ensor (1974). Effect of hypothalamic extracts on prolactin secretion in the goldfish, <u>Carassius auratus</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 47A, 419-426.
- Leatherland, J.F. and T.J. Lam (1969). Prolactin and survival in deionized water of the marine form (trachurus) of the three-spine stickleback, <u>Gasterosteus</u> aculeatus. Can. J. Zool. 47, 989-996.
- MacFarlane, H.A.A. and J. Maetz (1974). Effect of hypophysectomy on sodium and water exchange in the euryhaline flounder, <u>Platichthys</u> <u>flesus</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 22, 77-89.
- Maetz, J. (1971). Fish gills: mechanisms of salt transfer in freshwater and seawater. Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. B262, 209-249.
- Maetz, J., N. Mayer and M.M. Chartier-Barduc (1967). La balance minerale du sodium chez <u>Anguilla anguilla</u> en eau de mer. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 8, 177-188.
- Mattheij, J.A.M. and J.A.P. Sprangers (1969). The site of prolactin secretion in the adenohypophysics of the stenohaline teleost <u>Anoptichthys</u> jordani and the effect of this hormone on mucous cells. Z. Zellorsch. 94, 411-419.
- Mattheij, J.A.M., H.W.J. Stroband and F.J. Kingman (1971). The cell type in the adenohypophysis of the cichid fish <u>Cichlasoma biocellatum</u>, with special attention to its osmoregulatory role. Z. Zellorsch. 118, 113-126.
- Mattheij, J.A.M. and H.W. Stroband (1971) The effect of osmotic experiments and prolactin on the mucous cells in the skin and ionocytes in the gills of the teleost, Cichlasoma biocellatum. Z. Zellorsch. 121, 93-101.
- McCartney, T.H. (1976). Na, K -ATPase activity in gills and kidney of atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 53A, 351-353.
- Milne, K.P., J.N. Ball, and I. Chester Jones (1971). Effects of salinity, hypophysectomy and cortico-trophin on branchial Na, K -ATPase in the eel, Anguilla anguilla. J. Endocrinol. 49, 177-178.

- Mizuhira, V., T. Amakawa, S. Yamashina, N. Shirai and S. Utida (1970). Electron microscopic studies of the localization of sodium ions and Na, K -ATPase in chloride cells of eel gills. Exptl. Cell. Res. 59, 346-348.
- Motais, R., J. Isaia, J.C. Rankin and J. Maetz (1969).

 Adaptive changes of the water permeability of the teleostean gill epithelium in relation to external salinity. J. Exp. Biol. 51, 529-546.
- Nagahama, Y., R.S. Nishioka and H.A. Bern (1974). Structure and function of transplanted pituitary in the seawater goby, Gillichthys mirabilis. 1. The rostal pars distalis. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 22, 21-34.
- Nagahama, Y., R.S. Nishioka, H.A. Bern, and R.L. Gunther. (1975) Control of prolactin secretion in teleosts, with special reference to <u>Gillichthys mirabilis</u> and <u>Tilapia mossambica</u>. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 25, 166-188.
- Ogawa, M. (1970). Effects of prolactin on the epidermal mucous cells of the goldfish, <u>Carassius auratus</u>. Can. J. Zool. 48, 501-503.
- Ogawa, M. (1974). The effects of bovine prolactin, seawater and environmental calcium on water influx in isolated gills of the euryhaline teleosts, <u>Anguilla japonica</u> and <u>Salmo gairdneri</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 49A, 549-553.
- Ogawa, M. M. Yagasaki and F. Yamazaki (1973). The effect of prolactin on water influx in isolated gills of the goldfish, <u>Carassius auratus</u>. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 44A, 177-183.
- Ogawa, M. (1975) The effects of prolactin, cortisol and calcium-free environment on water influx in isolated gills of Japanese eel, Anguilla japonica. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 52A 539-543.
- Oide, M. (1970) Purification and some properties of alkaline phosphatase from intestinal mucosa of the eel adapted to freshwater or seawater. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 36, 241-252.
- Oide, M. and S. Utida (1967). Changes in water and ion transport in isolated intestine of the eel during salt adaptation and migration. Mar. Biol. 1, 102-106.

- Olivereau, M. and A. Lemoine (1968). Structural changes of the eels kidney induced by prolactin. Z. Zellforsch. 88, 576-590.
- Olivereau, M. and A. Lemoine (1969). Structural changes of the kidney in hypophysectomized eels treated with prolactin. Z. Zellforsch. 95, 361-376.
- Olivereau and A. Lemoine (1971). N-acetyl-neuraminic acid content of the skin in the eel after pituitary autotransplantation. Z. Vergl. Physiologie. 73, 44-52.
- Olivereau, M. and A. Lemoine (1973) Action of prolactin in intact and hypophysectomized eel. J. Comp. Physiol. 86, 65-75.
- Payan, P. and J. Maetz (1971) Blance hydrique chez les elasmobranches: Arguments en faveur dun controle endocrinien. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 16, 535-554.
- Payan, P., L. Goldstein, and R.P. Foster (1973). Gills and kidney in ureosmotic regulation in euryhaline skates. Am. J. Physiol. 224, 367-372.
- Peter, R.E. (1970). Hypothalamic control of thyroid gland activity and gonadal activity in the goldfish, Carassius auratus. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 14, 334-356.
- Peter, R.E. and B.A. McKeown (1974). Effect of hypothalamic and thalamic lesions on prolactin secretion in gold-fish. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 23, 438-452.
- Pickford, G.E., R.W. Griffith, J. Torretti, E. Hendler and F.H. Epstein (1970-a). Branchial reduction and renal stimulation of Na, K -ATPase by prolactin in hypophysectomized killifish in freshwater. Nature, 228, 378-379.
- Pickford, G.E., P.K.T. Pang, E. Weinstein, J. Toretti, E. Hendler, and F.H. Epstein (1970-b). The response of the hypophysectomized cyprinodont, Fundulus heteroclitus to replacement therapy with Cortisol. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 14, 524-534.
- Pickford, G.E. and J.G. Phillips (1959). Prolactin a factor in promoting survival of hypophysectomized killifish in freshwater. Science. 130, 454-455.

- Potts, W.T.W. and D.H. Evans. (1966). The effects of hypophysectomy and bovine prolactin on salt fluxes in freshwater adapted Fundulus heteroclitus. Biol. Bull. 131, 362-368.
- Potts, W.T.W., M.A. Foster, P.P. Rudy, and G.P. Howells. (1967). Sodium and water balance in the cichlid teleost, <u>Tilapia mossambica</u>. J. Exp. Biol. 47, 461-470.
- Potts, W.T.W. and W.R. Fleming (1970). The effect of prolactin and divalent ions on the permeability to water of <u>Fundulus kansae</u>. J. Exp. Biol. 53, 317-327.
- Sage, M. and H.A. Bern (1972). Assay of prolactin in vertebrate pituitaries by its dispersion of xanthophore pigment in the teleost Gillichthys mirabilis. J. Exp. Zool. 180, 169-173.
- Schmidt-Nielson, K. (1975). In animal physiology, adaptation and environment. Cambridge University Press. Part 4, 384-399.
- Schreibman, M.P. and K.D. Kallman (1965). The effect of hypophysectomy on freshwater survival and scale mucous cells in two species of freshwater fishes. Amer. Zool. 5, 728 (Abstr.)
- Schreibman, M.P. and K.D. Kallman (1966). Endocrine control of freshwater tolerance in teleosts. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 6, 144-155.
- Schreibman, M.P., J.F. Leatherland and B.A. McKeown. (1973). Functional morphology of the teleost pituitary gland. Amer. Zool. 13, 719-742.
- Stanley, J.C. and W.R. Fleming. (1966). Effect of hypophysectomy on the function of the kidney of the euryhaline teleost, <u>Fundulus kansae</u>. Biol. Bull. 130, 430-441.
- Turner, C.D. and J.T. Bagnara. (1971). In general endocrinology. W.B. Saunders Company. 105-112.
- Utida, S., T. Hirano, and M. Kamiya. (1969) Seasonal variation in the adjustive response to seawater in the intestine and gills of the Japanese cultured eel, <u>Anguilla japonica</u>. Proc. Jap. Acad. 45, 293-297.

- Utida, S., T. Hirano, H. Oide, M. Ando, D.W. Johnson, and H.A. Bern. (1972). Hormonal control of the intestine and urinary bladder in teleost osmoregulation. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. Suppl. 3, 317-327.
- Utida, S., M. Kamiya, D.W. Johnson, and H.A. Bern. (1974) Effects of freshwater adaptation and of prolactin on Na, K-ATPase activity in the urinary bladder of two flounder species. J. Endocrinol. 62, 11-14.
- Wendelaar Bonga, S.E. and M. Veenhuis. (1974). The effects of porlactin on kidney cells of the stickleback, Gasterosteus aculeatus, after transfer from the sea to freshwater, studied by ultra-thin sectioning and freeze-etching. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 22, 382 (Abstr.)
- Zambrano, D., W.C. Clarke, A. Hajek, M. Sage and H.A. Bern. (1974). Influence of medium concentration on prolactin and growth hormone cells during short-term incubation of pituitary glands from Tilapia mossambica. Acta. Zool. 55, 205-216.
- Zambrano, D., W.C. Clarke, E.F. Hawkins, M. Sage, and H.A. Bern. (1974) Influence of 6-hydroxydopamine on hypothalamic control of prolactin and ACTH secretion in the teleost fish, <u>Tilapin mossambica</u>. Neuroendocrinol. 13, 284-298.